FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/24/2023 2:29 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101838-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENTON COUNTY WATER CONSERVANCY BOARD

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent.

Court of Appeals Case No. 388034-III Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for Benton County

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James L. Buchal, WSBA No. 31369 MURPHY & BUCHAL LLP P.O. Box 86620

Portland, OR 97286 Tel: 503-227-1011

Fax: 503-573-1939

E-mail: jbuchal@mbllp.com

Attorney for Petitioner

March 24, 2023

Preliminary Statement

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner/Respondent Benton County Water Conservancy Board ("Board") is a "public body corporate and politic and a separate unit of local government in the state" (RCW 90.80.50(1)) with the express power to "sue and be sued, and do any and all lawful acts required and expedient to carry out the purposes of [RCW Chapter 90.80] . . .". RCW 90.80.060(1). In briefing before the Superior Court, the Washington State Department of Ecology ("Ecology") described the Board as a "partner[] in water resources management, . . . [with] statutory authority to process water rights change and transfer applications . . . ". (CP329.) The Board acts "upon applications for the same kinds of [water rights] transfers that the department [of Ecology] itself is authorized to act upon" (RCW 90.80.055), making it a statutorily authorized co-administrator of water right changes and transfers.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

By published opinion filed February 28, 2023, the Court of Appeals determined that even though the Board has statutory authority to regulate changes and transfers of water rights, the Board lacked standing to contest Ecology's decisions that arbitrarily and illegally interfered with its operations, specifically Ecology's refusal to recognize and record changes in ownership for water rights temporarily placed in trust for instream purposes. The Court of Appeals thus reversed the summary judgment granted in favor of the Board in the Superior Court of Benton County, which had held Ecology's conduct arbitrary, capricious and contrary to law. (CP386.) A copy of the opinion is set forth in the Appendix at pages 1 through 11.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the Board has jurisdiction by statute to process water rights changes and transfers, can Ecology unlawfully interfere with the Board's work without judicial

recourse for the Board on the theory that the Board lacks standing because any resulting increased costs, uncertainty and delay imposed on the Board do not prejudice it within the meaning of RCW 34.05.530?

- 2. Can Ecology lawfully reject and refuse to make of public record decisions by water rights holders to transfer ownership of portions of water rights temporarily held in trust pursuant to Chapter 90.42 RCW?
- 3. Where Ecology categorically justifies its refusal to accept and record the transfers by reference to a written policy not promulgated in compliance with rulemaking procedures under the Administrative Procedure Act, has Ecology engaged in unlawful rulemaking?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Water Rights Tracking System.

Ecology has no authority to regulate ownership of
Washington water rights, but maintains a database of the water
rights held within the State of Washington, which among other

things identifies the owners of such rights. This database is called the Water Rights Tracking System (CP215-16), and is relied upon by Ecology and water professionals across the State, including the Board (CP177-78). It was established by statute declaring that all "information necessary for effective planning and management . . .

"shall be included in a 'water resources information system' established and maintained by the department. The department shall develop a system of cataloging, storing and retrieving the information and studies of the information system so that they may be made readily available to and effectively used not only by the department but by the public generally."

RCW 90.54.030.

Ecology Form 070-88, established in connection with a formal written policy of Ecology, entitled "Administrative Policy for Recording the Agreed Division of Water Rights Among Multiple Property Owners". ("POL-1070"), is typically used to provide Ecology with information concerning ownership changes. (CP181-83; CP22).

Regrettably, Ecology invoked POL-1070 to categorically bar from recognition and recording in the Water Rights

Tracking System all transfers of ownership in water rights where the water right had been temporarily placed in trust pursuant to Chapter 90.42 RCW—thus being associated with in-stream flows rather than irrigated land. Water rights owners frequently "temporarily donate or 'park' their water right when they are not using it, to avoid relinquishment". (CP18.)

2. Changes in the *Use* of Water Rights.

In contrast to its lack of authority over water rights ownership, Ecology has extensive authority to regulate the use of water rights, with change/transfer approval pursuant to RCW 90.03.380 when the place of use, purpose of use, or point of diversion is changed. The Legislature has repeatedly admonished Ecology that, in an age of water scarcity, such changes should be facilitated—as opposed to the issuance of new rights. RCW 90.80.005; *see also* 2001 Laws, Ch. 237 ("... providing timely decisions on water transfers, clarifying

the authority of water conservancy boards, and enhancing the flexibility of our water management system to meet both environmental and economic goals are important steps to providing a better future for our state"). Indeed, the Legislature created the Board precisely to facilitate and expedite changes and transfers of water rights.

3. The Proceedings Below.

The Board thought it had ended Ecology's tactic of blocking change/transfers by rejecting ownership changes through certain 2013 litigation in which the Superior Court found Ecology had a duty to accept those changes. (CP175-76.) When the issue recurred in 2021, and was premised on a categorical refusal to recognize ownership changes in trusted rights, the Board concluded that Ecology's "refusal to record certain ownership changes in the System interferes with [the Board's] processing of . . . applications" and "creates confusion and extra expense for both [the Board] and the applicants appearing before it". (CP178 (undisputed testimony of Board

representative.)) Indeed, it was at all relevant times undisputed that "Ecology's ongoing refusal afflicts other transactions coming before the [Board] . . . ". (CP179.)

This time around, the Board determined to seek relief transcending any particular transaction, and filed a petition for relief, asserting claims for administrative mandamus (RCW 34.05.570(4)) and/or relief against unlawful rulemaking (RCW 34.05.570(2)). (CP1-18.) The Superior Court granted the Board's motion for summary judgment, denying Ecology's cross-motion for summary judgment, and entered an order finding Ecology's refusal to accept and record administrative divisions forms involving water rights that had been temporarily donated to the Water Rights Trust Program was arbitrary and capricious; that its invocation of POL-1070 to justify this position made POL-1070 an unlawful rule; and enjoining Ecology from its continued refusal to accept the forms unless and until a lawful rulemaking proceeding was

completed governing acceptance and recording of changes in water rights ownership. (CP389-91.)

4. The Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals recognized two components advanced to support the Board's standing: that Ecology's refusal to accept agreed divisions of water rights set forth in the administrative division form "interferes with [1] the Board's ability to accurately track ownership of water rights and [2] process change applications." (Slip op. at 9.) With respect to the first component, the Court of Appeals recognized that "the legislature has tasked Ecology with maintaining water rights records" (id.), referring to the agency's statutory duties under RCW 90.14.010 and RCW 90.54.030 (id. at 5 n.2). The Court of Appeals, however, declared that the legislature has not directed Ecology to maintain such records "in a specific manner" (id. at 10-11), thereby permitting Ecology to categorically refuse to recognize and record an entire category

of water rights transfers—notwithstanding its complete absence of authority to regulate water right ownership.

The Board contended that Ecology's authority with respect to keeping records of who owns water rights cannot be legally distinguished from that of a county clerk with respect to recording deeds, but the Court of Appeals declared that "no statute, regulation or policy states that POL-1070 operates as a ministerial, quit claim deed process". (Slip op. at 10.) The Court of Appeals did not identify any authority for Ecology to reject ownership changes, or address the Superior Court's finding that failure to recognize and record ownership transfers in trusted water rights was arbitrary and capricious, but concluded that the Board's demonstration that "Ecology is failing in its record-keeping duties" was "nothing more than conjecture". (Slip op. at 11.)

More importantly, the Court failed entirely to consider the impacts on the Board beyond the mere absence of accurate ownership records in Ecology's Water Rights Tracking System. In particular, applicants owning portions of water rights temporarily parked in the Water Rights Trust Program wish to come before the Board to seek a change in the status of this particular water right under RCW 90.03.380. Ecology's refusal, as an administrative matter, to recognize and record the changes in ownership means that the entire transaction has to be rejected—not just the ownership change but the RCW 90.03.380 application as well.

The Court of Appeals opinion discusses one example of this (slip op. at 5-6), but ignores the resulting rejection of that the change/transfer application under RCW 90.03.380.

Ecology takes the position that "the water rights cannot be divided"—again, notwithstanding the lack of authority to regulate ownership—and in the record example declared the Board's RCW 90.03.380 decision had to be withdrawn because it did "not evaluate the entirety of the water rights". (CP108).

The Court did not explain why Ecology's insistence upon an unnecessary, more complex and laborious process imposing

additional costs and uncertainty upon the applicants and the Board was not *itself* "injury in fact" to the Board.

Argument

- I. THE CASE INVOLVES SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF WASHINGTON LAW OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.
 - A. Whether Washington Governmental Agencies Seeking Judicial Redress for Illegal Interference In their Operations Should Be Denied Standing is a Question of Substantial Public Interest.

The notion that a public agency of the State of
Washington has no legally cognizable interest in the
complexity, efficiency and costs of its own operations is a novel
and pernicious expansion of standing doctrine. RCW
34.05.530. The Court of Appeals decision did not invoke the
"zone of interest" component of the test, RCW 34.05.530(2),
because the Board has a unique and compelling interest in the
subject of facilitating changes and transfers of Washington
water rights. It relies upon Ecology's record system, and
Ecology is required by statute to "provide technical assistance"

to the Board. RCW 90.80.055(1)(d). Ecology's own regulations even emphasize the Board's reliance upon Ecology's technical information in cases "involving trust water rights". WAC 173-153-060.

The Court of Appeals' holding that no "injury in fact" is present when an agency takes a public records system established by statute and arbitrarily excludes highly relevant and necessary information from it is contrary to a large body of law holding that such "informational injury" is an injury that supports the exercise of judicial power. *See, e.g., Nat'l Urban League v. Ross*, 489 F. Supp. 3d 939, 967 (N.D. Cal. 2020) (collecting cases).

Worse still, the notion that an agency can arbitrarily interfere in the operation of local governments without any statutory basis to do so, and that the afflicted local governments lacks standing because increased cost, delay and complexity in its operations is not "injury in fact," threatens not only the rule of law but also the efficient and economical operation of

government itself in Washington. The Board is the entity most affected by Ecology's unlawful conduct and rulemaking, and best equipped to seek redress for its own benefit and the benefit of the water rights holders it was established to assist. There is no principled basis for expanding standing doctrine to lock units of local government out of the State's courts.

B. Whether Ecology Should Be Granted De Facto Power to Regulate Ownership of Washington Water Rights Is a Question of Substantial Public Interest.

Neither Ecology nor the Court of Appeals attempted to justify why Ecology might refuse to recognize ownership transfers in water rights that had been placed in trust, a tool "more and more frequently utilized by water rights holders appearing before the [Board]" (CP178). There was obviously no legal justification for the policy, and, remarkably, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that Ecology's action was not "pursuant to a[ny] legislative mandate" whatsoever. (See slip op. at 10.) Ecology did not even attempt to offer a policy justification for its action, much less a legal one. The Superior

Court easily recognized Ecology's conduct as quintessential arbitrary and capricious agency action, first in 2013 and then in the decision below.

Nor is there any dispute that the effect of Ecology's arbitrary refusal to recognize the ownership changes was to make water rights changes and transfers more complex and expensive, in direct opposition to the Legislative policy to "expedite the administrative process for water rights transfers" though conservancy boards. RCW 90.80.005. It interferes with powerful public policy objectives to "reallocate water use in a manner that will result in more efficient use of water resources . . . help alleviate water shortages, save capital outlays, reduce development costs, and provide an incentive in water conservation efforts by water rights holders". *Id*.

Whether Ecology can arbitrarily invent barriers to water rights transfers out of thin air, and force them upon the Board and the water rights holders of Washington is a matter of considerable public importance, and merits review.

C. Whether an Agency May Invoke a Written Policy to Support Decisionmaking While Avoiding Rulemaking is an Issue of Substantial Public Importance.

It should be obvious that when an agency says "our policy does not let us do that," referring to an entire category of cases, that policy must be in the form of a rule that has been enacted in compliance with the detailed requirements of RCW 34.05.310 through 34.05.395, and subject to legislative review pursuant to RCW 34.05.610 through RCW 34.05.650. The rulemaking process itself—and particularly legislative review of Ecology's extraordinary conduct—would discourage Ecology from pursuing the extraordinary undermining of legislative policy it pursues here.

As one of Washington's most famous justices, Justice William O. Douglas, has explained, "[p]ublic airing of problems through rule making makes the bureaucracy more responsive to public needs and is an important brake on the

¹ *E.g.*, CP108 ("Our administrative division policy does not allow us to divide a water right when it has been separated from the property").

growth of absolutism in the regime that now governs all of us."

National Labor Relations Board v. Wyman, 394 U.S. 759, 778

(1969) (Douglas, J., dissenting); see also Simpson Tacoma

Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 640, 649 (1992)

(noting benefits of rulemaking procedure). Regrettably,

Ecology, as a matter of policy, one might say, prefers to operate free of rulemaking constraints and has enacted more than fifty formal written policies, many of which are utilized as unlawful rules.²

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals opinion upholds a decision to cast aside the rule of law itself, because according to the Court, POL-1070 was not even "created pursuant to a legislative mandate". (Slip op. at 10.) Ecology, as a Washington state agency, is a "creature of statute" whose powers are conferred by the legislature, and whose conceptions of the public interest must be based upon the statutes confided

² They are listed at https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations-Permits/Plans-policies/Water-rights-dam-safety-policies-procedures-guidan (accessed 3/3/23).

to Ecology's administration. *Cf. Pope Res., LP v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 190 Wn.2d 744, 760 (2018). This Court has repeatedly emphasized this point in cases involving Ecology. *Rettkowski v. Dep't of Ecology*, 122 Wn.2d 219, 233 (1993) (guidance for Ecology "is found only in the Water Code"); *R.D. Merrill Co. v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 137 Wn.2d 118, 134 (1999). Ecology can and will interpret the Court of Appeals decision to free it from all constraints of democratically-determined statutory policy. Leaving it free to pursue its own utterly contrary visions of the public interest. This Court's review of the Court of Appeals decision is required to restore the constraint of law on Ecology's actions.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Court of Appeals decision should be reversed, and the decision of the Superior Court reinstated.

This document contains 2,617 words, excluding the parts exempted by RAP 18.17.