FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/24/2023 11:44 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101838-0

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENTON COUNTY WATER CONSERVANCY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MATTHEW T. JANZ, Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 50173 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-6770 OID No. 91024

# **

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

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitions for review are governed by the four criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The Benton Board contends that its Petition meets one of these criteria: that it involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4); *see* Pet. at 11–17. But none of the issues the Benton Board identifies is of statewide importance warranting this Court's review because the Benton Board lacks standing to raise them. Like any other entity, the Board must demonstrate standing under the APA. RCW 34.05.530.

First, Ecology's denial of the administrative division here in no way illegally interfered with the Benton Board's operations. No party appealed that denial and the applicant instead filed an application to change the water right. CP 00348 n.3. Nor is Ecology exercising any sort of "de facto" power to regulate ownership of water when it denies an administrative

division, as it did here, because the application lacked required information. The ownership of the water right has not changed, and may still be transferred. Indeed, the underlying parties filed an application to change the water right with the Benton Board. *Id.* Finally, one fact-specific denial that no party appealed does not amount to denying an "entire category of cases" as the Board hyperbolically asserts. *See* Pet. at 15. There is no illegal rule, and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded the Board has no standing. This Court should deny the Board's Petition for Review.

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents No Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court

The Court of Appeals decision addressed a situation in which a water conservancy board, a local government entity with limited statutory authority to act on water change applications, improperly seeks to stand in the place of an applicant. Only the applicant, and not the water conservancy board, could acquire an "injury-in-fact" when a request for an administrative division is

denied. The wrong party brought the suit. If Tiegs, LLC or Plymouth Ranch, LLC, the applicants, were aggrieved by Ecology's denial, they could have appealed to the Pollution Control Hearings Board. They did not, which should have ended this matter. The Benton Board cannot usurp the rights of the applicants, avoid appeal to the Pollution Control Hearings Board altogether, and instead bring suit in superior court.

Further, the case presents no issue of substantial public importance because the Benton Board presented no evidence that Ecology categorically denies administrative division of water rights donated temporarily into trust. The only example the Benton Board points to, the Plymouth Ranch/Tiegs administrative division request, was denied for specific, documented reasons unrelated to water rights being in trust. Nowhere in Policy 1070 is such a categorical rule stated or implied.

# 1. Ecology has not illegally interfered with the Benton Board operations

Under the APA, a party has standing to obtain judicial review of an agency action if that person is aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency action. RCW 34.05.530. A party is aggrieved or adversely affected when (1) the agency prejudiced or is likely to prejudice the aggrieved party; (2) that party's asserted interest was required to be considered; and (3) judgment in favor of that party would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice caused by the agency action. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals properly applied existing law and precedent regarding standing in APA cases to the narrow facts here. The "injury-in-fact" requirement, found in prongs one and three, arises from well-settled law. *Benton Cnty. Water Conservancy Bd.*, slip op. at 9 (citing *Allan v. Univ. of Wash.*, 92 Wn. App. 31, 36, 959 P.2d 1184 (1998)).

Ecology's denial of the underlying administrative division did not interfere with the Benton Board's operations. The Board's assertion that it "relies upon Ecology's records system"

and that its operations—the processing of change and transfer applications—is undermined by inaccurate records, *see* Petition at 11, is specious because there is no evidence of any inaccurate records here. Ecology denied the Plymouth Ranch/Tiegs application for administrative division. The applicants did not appeal; therefore Ecology has no records in this case to update.

The Benton Board argues that it has suffered an "informational injury" without showing that any information is inaccurate or has injured the Board. Pet. at 12. The Board cites *National Urban League v. Ross*, 489 F. Supp. 3d 939, 955 (N.D. Cal. 2020), for the proposition that "a large body of law" holds that an informational injury supports the exercise of judicial power, *see* Petition at 12, but that case involved a challenge by various parties, including local governments, to a plan by the Trump administration to drastically cut the amount of time used to take the 2020 federal census. The federal district court found the plaintiffs had standing because an invalid census would affect

how governments would spend their money on health services and how citizens would be counted.

This matter is nothing like *National Urban League*, where the risk of inaccurate information demonstrably stood to injure the interested parties. Here, in contrast, the Benton Board can point to no invalid information in the record that has injured the Board or otherwise prevented the Board from performing its duties. Ecology's database is accurate. The denial of the underlying application was not appealed. Nowhere does the Benton Board show that it has suffered an injury such as that demonstrated by the local governmental entities in *National Urban League*. There is no "informational injury" that confers standing on the Board.

The Court of Appeals rightly recognized that the Benton Board has not been injured. The Board does not handle administrative divisions of water rights and it is not the applicant. It has not established that it has an interest here that Ecology could interfere with, let alone injure. The Board states it has

suffered increased cost, delay and complexity without citation to any instance in which the Board itself has suffered these supposed injuries. *See* Pet. at 12. The Court of Appeals properly found that the Board lacked standing, and this Court should decline review.

# 2. Ecology is not asserting de facto power to regulate ownership of water rights

Nowhere in the record has the Benton Board shown that Ecology is attempting to regulate the ownership of water rights by denying a single request to administratively divide a water right because that application had *numerous* deficiencies. CP 00141–42. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the administrative division process as described in Policy 1070 is *not* a "quit claim deed process," as the Board baselessly asserts, and is instead a policy and process "adopted to streamline the apportionment of water rights stemming from certain types of simple property divisions." *Benton Cnty. Water Conservancy Bd.*, slip op. at 9–10.

The Court of Appeals correctly explained that Ecology's administrative division policy is not the only path for an applicant, who may use a change application instead. *Benton Cnty. Water Conservancy Bd.*, slip op. at 10-11; CP 00153. A denial of an administrative division does not stop an owner from accomplishing a division of a water right through a standard change application. RCW 90.03.380; RCW 90.44.100; and *Benton Cnty. Water Conservancy Bd.*, slip op. at 10. As the Court of Appeals found, "[t]he Board's claim that Ecology's limited use of [Policy 1070] means Ecology is failing in its record-keeping duties amounts to nothing more than conjecture." *Benton Cnty. Water Conservancy Bd.*, slip op. at 11.

The record reflects that the Plymouth Ranch/Tiegs administrative division request was denied for a myriad of fact-specific reasons. Ecology's denial of the administrative division in no way amounts to a "de facto" regulation of the ownership of the underlying water right. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Ecology is not "duty bound" to record

administrative divisions as if they were some sort of quit claim deed, and that "no statute, regulation, or policy" states that Ecology's Policy 1070 operates as a quit claim deed process. *Id.* at 9–10. The only "authority" for the Benton Board's argument that the administrative division process amounts to a quit claim deed process are the Benton Board's "own statements." *Id.* These conclusory statements fail to show how Ecology is in any way regulating ownership of water rights through its administrative division process. The Court of Appeals thus correctly recognized that the Board failed to establish any injury.

# 3. Ecology has not engaged in illegal rulemaking

The Benton Board's last gasp at establishing an injury is an allegation that Policy 1070 contains an illegal rule that Ecology categorically denies all administrative divisions of water rights donated into trust. *See* Pet. at 15. But the only evidence the Board cites is the Plymouth Ranch/Tiegs administrative division request, which the record shows Ecology denied for unrelated reasons.

In *Northwest Pulp & Paper v. Dep't of Ecology*, 200 Wn.2d 666, 520 P.3d 985 (2022), this Court addressed whether revisions to Ecology's Water Quality Permit Writer's manual are a "rule" under the APA, RCW 34.05.010(16). The Court ruled that the manual was not a "directive of general applicability," which is required for an agency action to be considered a rule under RCW 34.05.010, because it was not directed to the regulated community as a whole, allowed for discretion, and provided for case-by-case analysis. *Northwest Pulp & Paper*, 200 Wn.2d at 8.

Here, similarly, Ecology's Policy 1070 contains no directive of general applicability that Ecology must deny any request to administratively divide a water right that is held in Ecology's Trust Water Rights Program. The application about which the Benton County Water Conservancy Board complains was denied for *fact specific* reasons notwithstanding the Benton Board's attempt to infer a broadly applicable rule. CP 00031–32.

For the Court to find an illegal rule here, it would have to read into Policy 1070 a provision that does not exist, namely that Ecology will categorically deny the administrative division of water rights if those water rights are held in the trust water rights program on a temporary basis. This claim is absurd, and the Court of Appeals was correct to conclude that the Benton Board has not been injured by a so-called "rule" that does not exist.

The record reflects that Ecology followed Policy 1070 when it considered the underlying administrative division request and that it denied the division because the Plymouth Ranch/Tiegs application was lacking in *numerous* respects, as set forth in Ecology's decision letter to the applicants. CP 00141–43. The application was not denied because it involved a right donated temporarily into trust: it was denied for failing to reflect historic beneficial use, incorrectly identifying land parcel numbers, failing to even show that the water right had been used, and not having all the landowners in agreement. CP 00141–42.

These defects in the application surely could have been corrected by the applicants, who did not bother to appeal Ecology's denial.

The Benton Board cannot connect this one denial to its claim that Ecology has adopted a categorical rule where the record reflects the application was denied for numerous fact-specific reasons that had nothing to do with the right being in trust.

Policy 1070 explains the reasons that Ecology seeks certain information to process administrative divisions. For example, the policy explains that when multiple owners of a property seek an administrative division of a single water right appurtenant to the property, the apportionment "shall reflect the historic beneficial use of water on the property. It shall be the responsibility of each property owner to verify his or her 'share' of the original right reflects the historic beneficial use of water on the property." CP 00153. This makes perfect sense, as Ecology cannot properly divide a water right amongst owners if it does not know how to properly apportion the water right. And

signature requirements and proper parcel descriptions further help the agency ensure water rights are properly divided amongst proper owners.

Policy 1070 contains no "categorical rule" to deny the administrative division of water rights held in trust, nor is such a rule found anywhere else. The Board points to no instance of Ecology denying an administrative division simply because the water right is temporarily in trust. This simply is not an issue of significant public interest warranting review by this Court.

None of the issues raised by the Benton Board is of sufficient statewide public interest to warrant this Court's review. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Benton Board failed to demonstrate an injury-in-fact, a conclusion easily supported by the record of this case. The Court should therefore decline review.

### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this case does not present issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this

Court. Ecology respectfully requests the Court deny the Petition for Review.

This document contains 3,745 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.